**RECEIVED**

**Nov 14 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2019-CP-40-02295

---

Court of Appeals Case No. 2020-000501  
Unpublished Opinion No. 2022-UP-313 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 27, 2022)

---

Supreme Court Case No. 2022-001503

Vermell Daniels,  
as Personal Representative of the Estate of Annie Porter,

Respondent,

v.

THI of South Carolina at Columbia, LLC,  
d/b/a Midlands Health & Rehabilitation Center,

Petitioner.

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Facility’s motion to compel Plaintiff’s<sup>3</sup> claims against it to arbitration?**
  - A. Is the Court of Appeals’ analysis of the Facility’s merger argument erroneous? More specifically, should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred in failing to find that the Arbitration Agreement merged with the Admission Agreement?**
  - B. Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the Facility’s equitable estoppel argument?**
  - C. Provided the Court of Appeals erred in not reaching the Facility’s equitable estoppel argument (as the Facility contends it did), should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred in not finding Plaintiff equitably estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement?**
  - D. Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching the Facility’s argument related to consideration and mutuality?**

---

<sup>1</sup> The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Petitioner, THI of South Carolina at Columbia, LLC, d/b/a Midlands Health & Rehabilitation Center. It is a skilled nursing facility in Richland County.

<sup>2</sup> Because the Subject Opinion was filed on July 27, 2022, the original deadline for the Facility to petition the Court of Appeals for rehearing was August 11, 2022, pursuant to Rule 221(a), SCACR (“Petitions for rehearing must be actually received by the appellate court no later than fifteen (15) days after the filing of the opinion . . .”); *see also* Rule 262(a), SCACR (regarding computation of time). On August 11, 2022, the Facility moved the Court of Appeals to extend the deadline for it to petition for rehearing to August 26, 2022, and on August 23, 2022, the Facility proceeded to serve and file its petition for rehearing. By order filed August 24, 2022, the Court of Appeals granted the Facility’s motion of August 11 and confirmed that the Facility’s petition for rehearing had been received and filed.

<sup>3</sup> “Plaintiff” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Vermell Daniels (“Ms. Daniels”) as the personal representative of the estate of her late mother, Annie Porter (“Ms. Porter”).

- E. Provided the Court of Appeals erred in not reaching the Facility’s argument related to consideration and mutuality (as the Facility contends it did), should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement is not enforceable because of a lack of consideration and mutuality?**
  
- F. At a minimum, should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred in denying the Facility’s alternative request for limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability?**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

With the help of Ms. Daniels, Ms. Porter was admitted as a resident of the Facility on December 22, 2017. (R. pp. 92, 115, 126.) Ms. Daniels handled the paperwork in conjunction with Ms. Porter’s admission and, in so doing, signed an Admission Agreement<sup>4</sup> and an Arbitration Agreement<sup>5</sup> on Ms. Porter’s behalf.

Ms. Porter passed away on March 28, 2018,<sup>6</sup> and on April 25, 2019, Plaintiff commenced this wrongful death and survival action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, alleging that Ms. Porter developed pressure sores because of deficient care/treatment she received at the Facility, which, in turn, resulted in her decline and eventual death. (R. pp. 20–37, 127.)

On June 5, 2019, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims to arbitration, based on the Arbitration Agreement Ms. Daniels signed for Ms. Porter. (R. pp. 90–92.)<sup>7</sup> <sup>8</sup> Following a

---

<sup>4</sup> (R. pp. 115–26.)

<sup>5</sup> (R. p. 92.)

<sup>6</sup> (R. p. 127.)

<sup>7</sup> Subject to and without waiving its arbitration rights, the Facility timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint, too. (R. pp. 42–52.)

<sup>8</sup> Without question, Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 92 (“[I]n the event of any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Ms. Porter’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Ms. Porter] . . . and the parties are unable to resolve such through negotiation, then the parties agree that such Dispute(s) shall be resolved by arbitration . . . .”)) But even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration . . . .”

hearing on August 26, 2019,<sup>9</sup> the circuit court, the Honorable L. Casey Manning presiding, denied the motion by order filed November 6, 2019. (R. pp. 1–6.) On November 18, 2019, the Facility timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. (R. pp. 135–42.) Following a hearing on February 13, 2020,<sup>10</sup> the circuit court denied the motion by order filed February 24, 2020. (R. pp. 7–19.)

This appeal timely followed by notice served and filed March 16, 2020,<sup>11</sup> and in due course, it was briefed and made ready for decision by the Court of Appeals.

As explained in its principal appellate brief, and further supported in its reply brief, the Facility argued that the circuit court erred in failing to find that the Arbitration Agreement merged with the Admission Agreement and that Plaintiff was equitably estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement because Ms. Porter had received direct benefits under the Admission Agreement merged therewith. (Br. of Appellant pp. 4–17; *see also* Reply Br. of Appellant.)<sup>12</sup> The Facility also argued that the circuit court erred in denying its alternative request for limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability based on agency or related concepts. (*See* Br. of Appellant pp. 19–22.)

The case was submitted for decision without oral argument during the June 2022 term and decided on July 27, 2022, via the Subject Opinion, which affirmed the circuit court’s denial of the

---

*Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (“[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.”).

<sup>9</sup> (R. pp. 53–73.)

<sup>10</sup> (R. pp. 74–89.)

<sup>11</sup> (R. pp. 148–52.)

<sup>12</sup> This argument included the Facility’s challenge to the circuit court’s finding that the Arbitration Agreement is not enforceable because of a supposed lack of consideration and mutuality. (Br. of Appellant pp. 17–19.)

Facility's motion to compel arbitration. The body of the Subject Opinion is brief enough to reproduce here in full:

**PER CURIAM:** [The Facility] appeals the circuit court's order denying its motion to dismiss and compel arbitration. On appeal, [the Facility] argues the circuit court erred (1) because the merger of the at-issue arbitration agreement with the admission agreement equitably estopped [Ms.] Daniels, as the personal representative of the estate of her mother, [Ms.] Porter, from denying the validity of the arbitration agreement and (2) in denying its alternative request to allow limited discovery. We affirm.

1. We hold the circuit court did not err in denying [the Facility's] motion to dismiss and compel arbitration because the admission agreement and the arbitration agreement did not merge. *See Berry v. Spang*, 433 S.C. 1, 9, 855 S.E.2d 309, 314 (Ct. App. 2021) ("Appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review." (quoting *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders*, 379 S.C. 620, 625, 667 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2008))); *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 335, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019) ("Whether an arbitration agreement may be enforced against a nonsignatory to the agreement is a matter subject to de novo review by an appellate court."); *Berry*, 433 S.C. at 9, 855 S.E.2d at 314 ("[A] circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings." (quoting *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009))); *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (concluding that language in the admission agreement that "recognize[d] the 'separatedness' of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement" plus a clause allowing the arbitration agreement to "be disclaimed within thirty days of signing while the admission agreement could not" indicated the parties' intention "that the common law doctrine of merger not apply"); *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 562–63, 813 S.E.2d 292, 302 (Ct. App. 2018) (determining an admission agreement and arbitration agreement did not merge because the facts "the Admissions Agreement indicated it was governed by South Carolina law, whereas the Arbitration Agreement stated it was governed by federal law," "each document was separately paginated and had its own signature page," and "the Arbitration Agreement stated signing it was not a precondition to admission" evidenced the parties' intention the documents be construed as separate instruments). Because the documents did not merge, we need not address [the Facility's] equitable estoppel argument or its argument related to consideration and mutuality.

*See Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc.*, 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (stating an appellate court need not address remaining issues when its resolution of a prior issue is dispositive); *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“Since there was no merger here, appellants’ equitable estoppel argument was properly denied by the circuit court.”); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (concluding “equitable estoppel would only apply if documents were merged”).

2. We hold the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying [the Facility’s] alternative request for limited discovery. [The Facility] failed to present an argument to the circuit court or on appeal as to why discovery was likely to uncover relevant evidence supporting its position regarding authority and agency. *See Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 536, 787 S.E.2d 485, 495 (2016) (“A trial court’s rulings in matters related to discovery generally will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of a clear abuse of discretion.”); *id.* (“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s order is controlled by an error of law or when there is no evidentiary support for the trial court’s factual conclusions.”); *Baughman v. Am. Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 544 (1991) (discussing, in the context of summary judgment, the necessity that the party requesting discovery “demonstrate[] a likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional evidence relevant to the issue”).

**AFFIRMED.**

As explained above, the Court of Appeals denied the Facility’s timely petition for rehearing on September 22, 2022.

This petition for a writ of certiorari timely follows.<sup>13</sup>

---

<sup>13</sup> Because the Court of Appeals denied the Facility’s petition for rehearing on September 22, 2022, the original deadline for the Facility to petition this Court for a writ of certiorari was October 24, 2022, pursuant to Rule 242(c), SCACR (“A petition for writ of certiorari shall be served on opposing counsel and filed with proof of service with the Clerk of the Court of Appeals and the Clerk of the Supreme Court within thirty (30) days after the petition for rehearing or reinstatement is finally decided by the Court of Appeals.”); *see also* Rule 262(a). By order filed October 25, 2022, in response to the Facility’s motion of October 24, 2022, the Court extended the time for serving and filing the petition for a writ of certiorari until November 3, 2022. By order filed November 4, 2022, in response to the Facility’s motion of November 3, 2022, the Court extended the time for serving and filing the petition for a writ of certiorari until today, November 14, 2022.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). "Under de novo review, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings." *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court's denial of the Facility's motion to compel arbitration.**
  - A. **Like that of the circuit court before it, the Court of Appeals' analysis of the Facility's merger argument is erroneous. The Court of Appeals should have found that the circuit court erred in failing to find that the Arbitration Agreement merged with the Admission Agreement.**

In *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, even though this Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, the Court nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration

agreement's] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. *Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (emphasis added).

Here, the Court of Appeals, like the circuit court before it, erred in rejecting the Facility's merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not involved in) *Coleman* and its progeny *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), as well as *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016).<sup>14</sup>

The Subject Opinion wrongly concludes that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contracts that do not merge. The merger question examines whether,

---

<sup>14</sup> Of the three cases (*Coleman*, *Hodge*, and *Thompson*), the Court of Appeals only cited *Coleman* and *Hodge* in the Subject Opinion, but to be clear, *Thompson* does not support the Court of Appeals' decision either.

“where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”<sup>15</sup> as indeed the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,<sup>16</sup> there is evidence to overcome the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments were intended to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only on actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption even to arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference of an intention contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, under the circumstances, the idea that there would have been an intention contrary to merger does not make sense.

---

<sup>15</sup> *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (quoting *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 88, 232 S.E.2d at 24).

<sup>16</sup> To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly states regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were [indeed] executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Hodge*, and *Thompson*, all of which provided that they could be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of signing (while the corresponding admission agreements did not), *the instant Arbitration Agreement has no disclaimer/revocation provision.* (R. p. 92.) The Court of Appeals failed to recognize this material distinction in erroneously likening this case to *Coleman*.<sup>17</sup> The Court of Appeals also erred in likening this case to *Hodge*. In citing *Hodge*, the Court of Appeals noted only *some* of the factors that the *Hodge* Court relied on in finding against merger, namely, that “the Admissions Agreement indicated it was governed by South Carolina law, whereas the Arbitration Agreement stated it was governed by federal law;” that “each document was separately paginated and had its own signature page;” and that “the Arbitration Agreement stated signing it was not a precondition to admission’ evidenced the parties’ intention the documents be construed as separate instruments.” (Subject Opinion p. 2 (citing *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562–63, 813 S.E.2d at 302).) The Court of Appeals failed to recognize that, as in *Coleman*—but, again, *not* in the instant case—the presence of a disclaimer/revocation provision in the arbitration agreement was a material fact that existed in *Hodge*, too. 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (“Also, the Arbitration Agreement stated it could be revoked within thirty days, whereas the Admission Agreement contained no such indication . . . .”); *id.* at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (“Based on all of this, we find the Admissions Agreement and Arbitration Agreement did not merge.”).

---

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