RECEIVED

Dec 13 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-40-02295

Court of Appeals Case No. 2020-000501
Unpublished Opinion No. 2022-UP-313 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 27, 2022)

Supreme Court Case No. 2022-001503

Vermell Daniels, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Annie Porter,.....Respondent,

v.

THI of South Carolina at Columbia, LLC d/b/a Midlands Health & Rehabilitation
Center,.....Petitioner.

RESPONDENT’S RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

HUGHEY LAW FIRM, LLC
D. Nathan Hughey (SC Bar No. 68409)

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

Second, the admission agreement allows for relief that the arbitration agreement prohibits. The admission agreement specifies that a resident “will present grievances” according to the

“Facility’s Grievance Procedure” and is not precluded “from filing a complaint with any governmental agency.” (R. p. 118). This express authorization of non-arbitrated grievances and complaints related to the resident’s admission is contrary to the arbitration agreement’s language that it applies to “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to Resident’s stay at Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to Resident.” (R. p. 92).

Third, the admission agreement contains an “Entire Agreement” clause stating the admission agreement is the “entire agreement” between the parties as to admission to the facility. (R. p. 126). *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

Fourth, executing the arbitration agreement was not a precondition to admission. (R. p. 8). *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562-63, 816 S.E.2d at 302; *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685.

Fifth, the admission agreement could be terminated by the resident “at any time, upon written notice to Facility” and by the facility with fifteen-days’ notice to the resident. (R. p. 120). In contrast, the arbitration agreement “shall survive any termination or breach of this [arbitration] Agreement or the Admission Agreement.” (R. p. 92).

Finally, the admission agreement and arbitration agreement are separately paginated and have separate (and differing) signature pages. *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. The admission agreement required that someone witness the resident or representative’s signature, but the arbitration agreement did not require a witness. (R. pp. 126; 92). Petitioner argues this does not indicate separateness because documents will always be separate for a merger issue to arise. (Br. of App. pp. 11-12). This misses the point. Agreements may be separate but have continuing pagination numbers or have one signature page and blanks for a signatory to initial or check that

it agrees or does not agree with a certain part or provision. The separate pagination and signature pages are evidence that the parties intended for the agreements to be separate.

THI argues that the admission agreement's reference to "other Admissions materials, which are made a part of this Agreement by reference" indicates an intent to merge the agreements. (*See* Br. of App. p. 8). This argument is factually and legally incorrect.

Factually, Petitioner is incorrect because THI expressly incorporated a specific document but did not incorporate the arbitration agreement. It expressly incorporated the admission handbook by stating in the admission agreement: "*Admission Handbook*, which is made a part of this Agreement by reference herein." (R. p. 115). In contrast, the admission agreement never mentions the arbitration agreement.

Legally, Petitioner is incorrect because the Court of Appeals already rejected that argument. In *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), the defendant nursing home argued as evidence of merger that the admission agreement "incorporates by reference all exhibits to the agreement and the A[rbitration] A[greement] is one of the exhibits." *Id.* at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685. The Court of Appeals found the reference "ambiguous" because the admission agreement did "not define the term 'exhibit' or cross-reference any specific exhibits" and the arbitration agreement did "not include any labels or other language indicating it serves as an exhibit or addendum to the Admission Agreement." *Id.* The Court of Appeals construed the reference "against" the facility drafter. *Id.* at 53-54, 784 S.E.2d at 685 (citing *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 355-56, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (stating that any ambiguity "is construed against the drafter")). The same is true in this case. The admission agreement does not define the term "Admission materials," and the arbitration agreement does not include any

labels or other language indicating it is an exhibit to the admission agreement. The ambiguous reference must be construed against THI and, therefore, does not support merger.

Petitioner goes to great lengths to establish a so-called “presumption of merger.” (*See* Br. of App. pp. 7-8, 12). Yet, it fails to cite to a case that says merger—two agreements becoming one as a matter of law—is a presumption. THI relies on the following language from *Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 232 S.E.2d 20 (1977): “The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the instruments together.” *Id.* at 88, 232 S.E.2d at 24. This refers not to merger as a matter of law but to a contract interpretation principle. Absent anything to the contrary, a court will construe instruments together; not absent anything to the contrary two agreements become one.

Regardless, for any alleged presumption to apply, Petitioner must prove the agreements were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and during the same transaction. It failed to do so.

There is evidence that different parties signed the agreements. Ms. Daniels signed the arbitration agreement as “Resident/Representative” but signed the admission agreement as “Representative.” (R. p. 92; 126). The agreements were not executed for the same purpose. The admission agreement was signed to effectuate the admission of Ms. Porter to the facility. The separate arbitration agreement was signed to waive a jury trial right. These are unrelated purposes.

Petitioner argues that it proves the agreements were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and during the same transaction simply because it presented the documents to Ms. Daniels at the same time during the admission process and she physically signed

them both (although in different capacities). (Br. of App. pp. 9, 12-13). If that is true, then an arbitration agreement and admission agreement will presumably merge every time they are given to someone at the same time to sign when admitting a resident to a facility and that person physically signs both documents. Under THI's argument, arbitration will almost universally be enforceable regardless of the legal authority of the signatory to the arbitration agreement. The Court should reject this attempt to enforce an arbitration agreement through the back door that would never be admitted through the front door based on its invalidity.

Finally, even if there is a presumption and even if it applies, the above discussion of the evidence of the separateness of the arbitration agreement and admission agreement rebuts the presumption by demonstrating an intention contrary to merger.

Petitioner incorrectly argues that the lower court used the wrong equitable estoppel test—that it should have used the “direct benefits test” discussed in *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 827 S.E.2d 167 (2019), rather than the six-part test.⁴ (Br. of App. pp. 13-15). The direct benefits test applies only to cases that involve a nonsignatory. Here, Ms. Porter is listed as a signatory on the arbitration agreement and admission agreement. Therefore, the direct benefits test does not apply.

Wilson involved signatories attempting to enforce an arbitration provision against plaintiffs who were not signatories or parties to the agreement that contained the arbitration provision. 426

⁴ “Under South Carolina law, the elements of equitable estoppel as to the party to be estopped are[:] (1) conduct which amounts to a false representation or concealment of material facts, or, at least, which is calculated to convey the impression that the facts are otherwise than, and inconsistent with, those which the party subsequently attempts to assert; (2) intention, or at least expectation, that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party; and (3) knowledge, actual or constructive, of the real facts. As related to the party claiming the estoppel, they are: (1) lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth as to the facts in question; (2) reliance upon the conduct of the party estopped; and (3) action based thereon of such a character as to change his position prejudicially.” *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 60, 784 S.E.2d 679, 688-89 (Ct. App. 2016) (internal quotation marks omitted).

S.C. at 332, 827 S.E.2d at 171. Other arbitration cases in which the appellate courts used the direct benefits test also involved a signatory seeking to enforce arbitration against a nonsignatory. *See Weaver v. Brookdale Senior Living, Inc.*, 847 S.E.2d 268, 272 (Ct. App. 2020) (analyzing direct benefits theory in case where granddaughter of resident brought her individual claims and facility sought to enforce arbitration in agreement between the facility and resident); *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 285-86, 733 S.E.2d 597, 599 (Ct. App. 2012) (Appellant argued a nonsignatory doctor was bound by an arbitration provision in an agreement between a hospital and a medical professional placement company).

Here, Ms. Porter is listed as a signatory and a party to the arbitration agreement. Ms. Daniels did not have legal authority to bind Ms. Porter to arbitration. Direct benefits estoppel is not intended to revive an invalid agreement. The purpose of direct benefits estoppel is the inequity of allowing someone to receive direct benefits from an agreement but then claim his nonsignatory status excuses him from complying with its terms. That purpose is inapplicable to this case.

Petitioner also argues that the six-part test is only for “*non*-arbitration cases.” (Br. of App. p. 13). In *Wilson*, the party asserting estoppel made an “alternative argument on appeal” that it also satisfied the six-part estoppel test. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 340 n.9, 827 S.E.2d at 175 n.9. The Supreme Court said the “traditional [six-part] test . . . has been analyzed most often in non-arbitration cases” but “express[ed] no opinion on [the] alternative argument.” *Id.* Therefore, there is no law mandating application of the direct benefits test in arbitration cases. Such a rule would likely violate the Federal Arbitration Act by singling out arbitration and treating it differently than other contracts. *See Weaver v. Brookdale Senior Living, Inc.*, 847 S.E.2d 268, 271-72 (Ct. App. 2020) (“The FAA therefore places arbitration contracts on equal footing with other contracts, but it does not, as Appellants suggest, give the party seeking arbitration a leg up in the threshold

determination of whether a valid arbitration agreement exists.”). Arbitration is not the only context in which a signatory may attempt to enforce a contract provision against a nonsignatory.

Even if the Court decided to apply the direct benefits test, Petitioner fails to show it is satisfied in this case. The direct benefits theory “estops a nonsigner from refusing to comply with an arbitration provision of a contract if (1) the nonsigner’s claim arises from the contractual relationship, (2) the nonsigner has ‘exploited’ other parts of the contract by reaping its benefits, and (3) the claim relies solely on the contract terms to impose liability.” *Weaver v. Brookdale Senior Living, Inc.*, 847 S.E.2d 268, 272 (Ct. App. 2020). These elements are not met.

First, Respondent’s claims do not arise from the contractual relationship. “[D]irect benefits estoppel is not implicated simply because a claim relates to or would not have arisen ‘but for’ a contract’s existence.” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 343, 827 S.E.2d 167, 176 (2019). THI’s only argument is that it admitted Ms. Porter to the facility. (Br. of App. pp. 14-15). That it admitted her because Ms. Daniels signed the admission agreement (the arbitration agreement was not required for admission) does not mean the negligence, fraud, and Unfair Trade Practice Act claims arise out of the contractual relationship.

Second, Respondent has not exploited any part of the admission agreement by reaping its benefits. Petitioner does not argue the Estate (or Ms. Porter) exploited anything. It argues that Ms. Porter “received the benefit of her admission to the Facility.” (Br. of App. p. 14). The Court of Appeals already rejected that benefit theory. In *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), the Court of Appeals reasoned that “because the Facility allegedly caused [the plaintiff]’s injuries that later led to her death, we find it difficult to find she benefited even from being admitted.” *Id.* at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

Third, Respondent's claims do not rely on any contract terms to impose liability. The claims are based on tort law and the Unfair Trade Practices Act. (R. pp. 21-37). The Estate does not seek to enforce any provision of the admission agreement.

The record supports a decision to affirm on the basis that THI failed to show that the elements of the direct benefits test are satisfied.

Finally, Petitioner does not challenge the lower court's findings that it failed to satisfy the six-part equitable estoppel test. (Br. of App. pp. 13-17). It challenges only the lower court's use of that test as opposed to the direct benefits test. *Id.* Therefore, if this Court determines that the lower court used the correct legal standard, then its holding that THI failed to satisfy that standard is the controlling law of the case. *See Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.").

Stated again, the lower court used the correct analysis and reached the correct result, but even if it had used a direct benefits analysis, the same result would have been reached.

D. The Court of Appeals correctly held that because the admission agreement and arbitration agreement did not merge that the consideration and mutuality argument did not need to be addressed and was correct in not reaching the consideration and mutuality argument.

The Court of Appeals was correct to decline to address consideration and mutuality argument for two separate reasons. First, without merger, the parties are left with an arbitration agreement that is unenforceable because it was signed without authority. Because Ms. Daniels lacked authority to agree to arbitrate on behalf of Ms. Porter, she could not provide any consideration, *i.e.*, a promise to arbitrate, to support the agreement. Second, the arbitration agreement was not even signed by the facility representative, which really begs the question of had the arbitration agreement properly been signed by Ms. Porter, which it clearly was not, whether

the facility itself even desired to arbitrate in the first place, because the absence of a signature indicates otherwise. Therefore, the lower court correctly held that, under the circumstances, there is “a lack of consideration and mutuality.” (R. p. 19).

E. The Court of Appeals correctly denied the Facility’s alternative request for limited discovery.

The Court of Appeals correctly denied THI’s request for discovery. “A trial court’s rulings in matters related to discovery generally will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of a clear abuse of discretion.” *Fairchild v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 398 S.C. 90, 108, 727 S.E.2d 407, 416 (2012). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s order is controlled by an error of law or when there is no evidentiary support for the trial court’s factual conclusions.” *Id.* at 108, 727 S.E.2d at 416. THI does not argue or show that the lower court abused its discretion.

THI admitted at the hearing that Ms. Daniels’ affidavit showed she lacked legal authority to bind Ms. Porter to arbitration. (R. pp. 60-61, 68). The lower court found that she lacked legal authority. (R. pp. 3-4; 9-13). THI did not appeal those findings. *See Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (“An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.”).

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